MINUTES of MEETING of PLANNING, PROTECTIVE SERVICES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE held in the GLENBARR CHURCH HALL, GLENBARR, ARGYLL on THURSDAY, 5 JUNE 2014

Present: Councillor Alex McNaughton (Chair)

Councillor Gordon Blair
Councillor Rory Colville
Councillor Robin Currie
Councillor George Freeman

Councillor Donald MacMillan
Councillor Roderick McCuish
Councillor Sandy Taylor
Councillor Richard Trail

Councillor Robert G MacIntyre

Attending: Charles Reppke, Head of Governance and Law

Richard Kerr, Major Applications Team Leader – Planning

James Ross, Roads Authority – Statutory Consultee

Colin Renfrew, Applicant

Ailsa Clark, Inspiralba Ltd, on behalf of Applicant

Sue Birnie, AMEC on behalf of Applicant

Duncan MacAlister, Supporter Fergus Younger, Supporter Lorraine MacPhail, Supporter

Phil Herd, Supporter Duncan Hunter, Supporter Peter Sinclair, Supporter John Seddon, Objector

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were intimated from Councillors Mary-Jean Devon, David Kinniburgh, Alistair MacDougall and James McQueen.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

3. FYNE FUTURES LTD: ERECTION OF 3 WIND TURBINES (100 METRES HIGH TO BLADE TIP), CONTROL BUILDING, NEW AND IMPROVED ACCESS TRACKS AND ANCILLARY DEVELOPMENT: LAND SOUTH OF AUCHADADUIE, BARR GLEN, GLENBARR, KINTYRE (REF: 11/02525/PP)

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and introductions were made. The Head of Governance and Law then outlined the procedure that would be followed and identified those who wished to speak.

PLANNING

Richard Kerr presented the application on behalf of the Head of Planning and Regulatory Services. He advised that this was a local detailed application for the erection of three wind turbines 100m high to the vertical

blade tip on forestry land to the south of Barr Glen, which was an east west aligned valley running inland from the West Kintyre coast, to the east of the settlement of Glenbarr. The application had been held in abeyance for a considerable period, primarily to allow the Applicants to undertake additional ornithological survey work to satisfy the requirements of Scottish Natural Heritage. Additional information regarding birds, landscape and access was submitted latterly, which enabled the resuscitation of the application. In addition to the main report to the April Committee meeting, he advised that there were two additional supplementary reports which detailed additional representations received since the main report was produced. He also referred to a further 5 representations of support which had been received from Mr T Burke. Ms J Blair, Miss L MacLean, Mr R MacKinnon and Mr D Hunter. He confirmed that a total of 30 individual objections were received from Kintyre addresses along with 47 representations of support. He stated that not all addresses were given for the supporters and of those that were 15 were from Kintyre addresses. For the benefit of members of the public, he confirmed that Councillors had the opportunity this morning to acquaint themselves with the application site and its surroundings and visited some of the representative viewpoints assessed by the Applicants in their application, in order to be able to appreciate these at first hand. Referring to presentation slides he highlighted the location of the application site cross-hatched in red with a proposed access route leading up from the public road along Barr Glen, up through farmland and then forestry to reach an elevated location on the land forming the southern skyline to the glen. He showed the location of the site in the context of the adopted local plan, with the turbines straddling the boundary between the light green 'sensitive countryside' zone and the white 'very sensitive countryside' zone. The access route commenced in 'rural opportunity area' and thence up through the light green 'sensitive countryside' zone. He stated that the renewables map in the local plan, which defined general areas of search and constrained areas for wind farm development, did not apply to this proposal as it was only intended to relate to schemes with a generating capacity of more than 20MW. He advised that the forthcoming local development plan, which in time would replace the adopted local plan, contained updated renewables policy, but this could be given weight at this point in the plan-making process as it had been contested by the public, some consultees and the certain parts of the wind energy industry, so would be a matter which would be reviewed by the government Reporter who will conduct the forthcoming Examination of the plan. Accordingly, he stated that the application was to be determined in the light of the 2009 adopted local plan along with other material considerations. Those included the views expressed by consultees in response to the application, views expressed for and against the proposal by supporters and objectors, central government advice in respect of renewable energy development, and guidance provided in the 'Argyll & Bute Landscape Wind Energy Capacity Study' which was jointly commissioned by the Council and Scottish Natural Heritage and augmented the local plan policy on wind turbines by assessing the capacity of the various landscape character types across Argyll and Bute to accommodate different height and scales of wind turbine development. He pointed out that this study did not have the same status as policy, but nonetheless it constituted an important material consideration, as it provided a robust analysis of the capability of various landscape types to accommodate development, having regard to their particular intrinsic qualities and characteristics, and the degree to which they were already impacted upon by previously consented wind turbines. He referred to a series of photographs of Barr Glen and advised that the top of the glen was already influenced by Beinn and Tuirc windfarm and the recently completed extension to it. As mentioned previously, he confirmed that the proposal was not covered by the local plan wind farm spatial strategy due to its small size. However, for information, he stated that Barr Glen lay within the pink 'potentially constrained area' for wind farm development with the yellow 'area of search' being on the spine of Kintyre to the south of Beinn and Tuirc wind farm. This was in recognition that better opportunities to assimilate wind farm development in Kintyre would be found on the upland spine, well removed from settlement, transport routes, historic environment sites and tourism assets, all of which tended to be confined to areas associated with the coast, and with the low lying land along the glens running into the interior of the peninsula. The policy therefore sought to reinforce the established pattern of development, which was to exploit the geographical advantages of sites on the upland spine, which tended to be topographically shielded from those more sensitive landscapes, scenic locations and places where residents and visitors tended to be found. In the absence of a spatial strategy for developments of a size being considered today, he stated that this application fell to be considered on its individual merits, having regard to the criteria set out in local plan policy LP REN 1 and other relevant local plan policies. He referred to a photograph showing the application site in the context of the existing forested areas to the south, with Beinn and Tuirc wind farms both standing in more elevated locations on open moorland towards the centre of the peninsula. He advised that the application site lay much closer to the coast and to the settled glen below and that it shared some of the shortcomings of the previously refused single turbine at North Beachmore, which Members would probably recall from a previous hearing held at Tayinloan. He stated that the proposed turbines were the typical horizontal axis 3 bladed machines with a 59m hub height and an 82m rotor diameter, producing an overall height to the blade tip of 100m. Each would have a 2.3MW designed capacity providing a total installed maximum generating capacity of 6.9MW. Referring to further slides he explained that the access route included an upgrading of an existing forestry access road shown in solid red, plus an extension of 2.1 km of new track to reach the application site. The access route from the A83 was along the Barr Glen road shown in blue, which would require off site improvement works to facilitate the delivery of large scale turbine components. He advised that stretches of the public road would require improvement to accommodate abnormal loads plus the addition of passing places. The works required included widening within the road verge shown in purple, and work outside the road corridor on land available to the Applicants depicted in green. Swept path analysis had been carried out to demonstrate access feasibility with the identified improvements in place. Referring to the turbine site, he pointed out the on-site control building and the associated compound. Electricity would be exported from the site via an overhead line link to the Carradale Sub Station and this route would be the subject of a separate application to the government under the Electricity Act in the event the turbines were

to receive planning permission. As with all turbine applications, he stated that the visual impact of the development was an important material consideration in assessing the overall merits of the proposal. He confirmed that the Applicants had undertaken a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment in accordance with Landscape Institute Guidelines, which following the submission of additional information latterly, now satisfied the requirements of Scottish Natural Heritage. Referring to a plan showing the extent of blade tip theoretical visibility in yellow he pointed out that it was noticeable that the effect of topography was to confine visibility to the length of Barr Glen, to a short stretch of the A83 and the coast in the vicinity of Glenbarr, with more distant visibility out to sea and to points on Gigha, round Machrihanish and up towards the area south of Kilberry in South Knapdale. From this, he advised that it was possible to conclude that the influence of the scheme would be predominantly localised rather than cast over a wide geographic area. He stated that this exercise had also influenced the locations of representative viewpoints requiring assessment by means of photomontages and wirelines. On a plan he pointed out the various SNH derived landscape character types in Kintyre and confirmed that the site lay within the green 'Upland Forest Moor Mosaic' Landscape Character type which was identified in the 'Argyll & Bute Landscape Wind Energy Capacity Study' as a landscape type with favourable potential for turbines up to 'large scale'. However, he advised that capacity was not to be found uniformly across this area and the study guarded against development on the edges of this character type, where it would be more likely to shed unwelcome influence over adjacent more sensitive smaller scale and settled landscape types. He explained that the 'Upland Forest Moor Mosaic' character type was widespread along the centre of the Kintyre peninsula and had already proven suitable to accommodate wind farms, four of which were cross hatched in yellow on this plan – from south to north, Tangy, Beinn an Tuirc 1 and 2 and Deucheran Hill. Importantly, he advised that Members you should note the presence of the dark green strip along the coast extending into the lower section of Barr Glen, which indicated the less elevated more settled and more scenic 'Rocky Mosaic' landscape character type. He stated that it was the unwelcome influence which the development would extend into this more sensitive coastal landscape which had led to serious concerns being expressed by Scottish Natural Heritage and had in turn led to a recommendation of refusal for the application on significant adverse visual impact grounds. A further slide showed the extent of the 'Upland Forest Moor Mosaic' landscape character type, as defined in the Wind Energy Capacity Study. He advised that the incursions into this area by glens on both the west and east Kintyre coasts was readily apparent, and the avoidance of the juxtaposition of development around the edges of this area with those glens, and with the excluded areas along the coast, was therefore an important factor in selecting appropriate locations for turbine development within this otherwise extensive area. Specifically, he explained that the study regarded the small scale landscape of Barr Glen to be sensitive to the larger scale typology i.e. turbines larger than 80m in height, if turbines were to be sited on containing hills and ridges which provided the skylines to the glen; the conclusion being that more open, remote and sparsely populated areas on the upland spine of Kintyre offered the best prospects for the largest turbine types. He confirmed

that the adjacent 'Rocky Mosaic' character type was sensitive to unwelcome influence being shed from inappropriate large scale turbines being sited too close to the edge of the otherwise more favourable 'Upland Forest Moor Mosaic'. He stated that these coastal and associated low lying areas were where transport routes, settlement, scenic and tourism assets tended to be concentrated so there was a need to guard against unwelcome influence from large scale wind turbines over these more sensitive locations. He confirmed that the application site was not the subject of any landscape designation itself, but advised that the west Kintyre coastline was designated as an 'Area of Panoramic Quality' in view of its regional significance as a scenic resource and the visual influence of the development extended into part of this APQ. On a slide he pointed out the closest residential properties to the site itself and indicated that most of those lay within 1 to 1.5km which was relatively close in terms of large scale turbines consented thus far in Argyll, most of which were further removed from habitation. Notwithstanding visual implications, he stated that the Applicants had, however, demonstrated that noise effects would be within accepted national standards as far as the occupiers of these properties were concerned. He explained that the cumulative impact of multiple sites was difficult to take in graphically but stated that Barr Glen was already influenced by the presence of Beinn an Tuirc, and that two commercial scale proposals in addition to the application proposal were being actively promoted. Therefore, he advised that there was a clear issue as to the extent to which Barr Glen could assimilate more large turbines beyond those already visible at Beinn an Tuirc, without giving rise to adverse implications for the appreciation of the character and the visual qualities of the glen. He confirmed that Planning's conclusion was that the proposal was divorced from the established pattern of wind turbine development on the spine of Kintyre, would extend an unwelcome influence of development towards the coast, and by virtue of its association with Beinn an Tuirc wind farm would give rise to unwelcome cumulative impacts upon Barr Glen, which would be compounded in the event that either or both of the other schemes in the offing at Creggans and Blary Hill were to be consented. He stated that a cumulative impact reason for refusal was therefore also recommended. He then went on to present views of the proposed turbines from various locations. One of these showed the skylining location of the turbines relative to the Glen road in the vicinity of Upper Barry. He asked Members to note the 100m high turbines on land of the order of only 200m and stated that these were disproportionately high relative to the scale of the receiving landscape and served to diminish the apparent scale of the landscape, which, he stated, was important in enclosing and defining this settled glen. Further photograph showed the distribution of historic environment sites within the glen and its surroundings and he confirmed that none were directly affected and that Historic Scotland and West of Scotland Archaeology had indicated that they were content with the impact upon the settings of these sites. A further plan highlighted the habitat survey of the site with the green indicating conifer plantation and areas of marshy and improved grassland in purple and orange respectively. Section P of the main report indicated that the final view of the Forestry Commission was outstanding at the time of writing, pending ongoing discussion with the applicants. He confirmed that their consultation response of 25th April was updated in Section D, to

state the current position, which was that the Forestry Commission did not object to the application subject to conditions. He advised that bird flights over the site had been proven to be an issue for Scottish Natural Heritage who were not content with the original survey work. Further results collected in 2012 -13 showed more Greenland White Fronted geese transiting over, or passing close to the site, when commuting between coastal feeding fields and upland roosting lochs. He stated that ultimately neither SNH nor RSPB have objected, although both have expressed residual concerns. In view of the relationship of these flights with the Kintyre Goose Roosts SPA, a designation of European importance, he stated that SNH has advised that to satisfy the Habitats Regulations obligations, the Council as the determining body, must carry out an 'appropriate assessment' in advance of reaching a decision in the matter. He confirmed that this could be found at Appendix C to the report and concluded that impact of the development would not significantly affect the integrity of the SPA in terms of its conservation objectives. He advised that all other consultees were content with the proposals subject to conditions. He confirmed receipt of a late response from the MOD which had no objection to the proposal. No comments had been received from the West Kintyre Community Council and Gigha Community Council had indicated that it did not wish to comment. He advised that the Roads Engineer had no objection in principle subject to the submission of a Traffic Management Plan and Method Statement to address component deliveries and other construction traffic. Whilst these aspects could potentially be dealt with by condition, he pointed out that the Committee's recent practice has been to require that all access measures for wind turbine developments be identified in full at the application stage, in view of experience elsewhere, where lack of achievability of off-site access requirements has frustrated the implementation of a turbine consent. In addition, he stated that there was an unresolved issue as to how abnormal loads could negotiate the junction between the A83 and the junction with the Barr Glen road and whether land would be available to the prospective developer for necessary improvements to geometry. In the absence of all aspects of transportation having been satisfied at the application stage, he confirmed that this lack of information was also cited as a recommended reason for refusal. He advised that Scottish Natural Heritage had not objected to the application on landscape or visual grounds because it did not prejudice a national designation. It was their current practice only to intervene formally in such circumstances. Accordingly, he stated that SNH had confined itself to the provision of advice to the Council on the landscape and visual merits of the proposal. He stated that the absence of an objection should not be construed as being indicative that SNH were in any way content with the proposal and advised that their opinion was that the turbines were inappropriate in height relative to the receiving landscape, and that they cast an unwelcome and adverse influence over their surroundings, and were detrimental in terms of their impact on the Rocky Mosaic coastal landscape character type, where sensitive receptors and locations with scenic qualities tended to be concentrated. They pointed out that the development did not conform to the advice given in the Wind Energy Capacity Study, which was to avoid development on land forming the skyline and landscape backdrop to lower lying settled areas, such as that found along the coast and within Barr Glen. In particular, SNH was critical of the turbine size given that the height of the turbines was about half the height of the land on which they were to be located, diminishing the apparent scale of the landscape, contrary to their published design advice, which recommended that turbines should be no more than a third of the height of the land on which they were to be located. He confirmed that Scottish Natural Heritage's advice to the Council was that the development ought not to be considered favourably. Finally, he advised that Members would be aware of the significant support for the proposal, much of which appeared founded on the Applicants' credentials as a social enterprise company with a proven track record of project delivery in Argyll. He stated that support had been expressed for the manner in which this proposal could contribute to the funding of the Applicants' activities, helping to sustain employment and to deliver projects which would benefit local communities. The Applicants, Fyne Futures, were a development arm of Fyne Homes, which sought to promote community ventures and renewable energy. He stated that he understood that Members had been circulated by the Applicants with information which described their activities and their aspirations. He stressed that Community benefit related to wind energy development was not a material planning consideration, although local economic benefit was. In this case, he said that the identity of the Applicants indicated that the intention of the project was to be community focused, rather than utility company or developer driven, although it could not be regarded as a locally promoted community scheme in the manner which the turbines on Gigha have been, for example. Whilst therefore it was appropriate that Members give some cognisance to the Applicants' credentials and their motives, he stated that these could not be overriding considerations which would warrant the setting aside of other legitimate considerations being weighed in the balance; such a planning policy, published guidance or the views of consultees. He stated that it was necessary to consider the acceptability of the development in terms of its implications for the local environment, and the contribution which it was capable of making towards addressing the consequences of climate change. Only in the event that the development was regarded acceptable on its merits, in terms of the acceptability of its consequences for the receiving environment, should the indirect benefits which the project can bring to the Argyll economy be then weighed in the balance. Whilst the track record and the motives of the Applicants were beyond question, he stated that it should be remembered that there were a range of locations in Argyll, and indeed elsewhere, where they could promote such development to assist in the financing of their organisation. He advised that they had no established connection with this site and no other imperative to develop it which would lead them to have to discount other prospective locations. Accordingly, he advised that if Members were persuaded that this development model had merits as a means of financing the activities of Fyne Futures, they should be aware that this would not warrant the favourable consideration of a site for turbines of a size and in a location, which in other circumstances would have led them to conclude otherwise, had the identity of the Applicant been different. He confirmed that the application was recommended for refusal on the basis that the adverse local environmental effects outweighed the direct benefits which the development could make to the achievement of national renewable energy targets, and the indirect benefits which the development could

contribute though the activities of the Applicants to the support and development of the Argyll economy.

APPLICANT

Colin Renfrew

Colin Renfrew advised that on behalf of the Applicant they would like to present their case to the Councillors for the 3 turbines at Auchadaduie. He confirmed that he was the Company Secretary of Fyne Futures and Chief Executive of Fyne Homes and that he was here today to give some information on the Fyne Homes Group and the importance that this project had in relation to the wider implications for Fyne Homes and for Argyll and Bute. He indicated that he was joined by Ailsa Clark, of Inspiralba Ltd, who would speak regarding public consultation, local support for the project and community benefits, in the local context and in the wider context for the council. He advised that the third member of their team was Sue Birnie from AMEC who would be speaking about the planning and environmental considerations of the proposed wind turbine development.

Mr Renfrew stated that Fyne Homes, the parent company for Fyne Futures, was a registered Social Landlord/Housing Association which has operated in Argyll since 1936. It was also a Registered Scottish Charity. He advised that Fyne Homes was regulated by the Scottish Housing Regulator, and was classified as low risk by the regulator. out that there were a number of social housing associations operating in Argyll and Bute, and Fyne Homes were proud of the fact that they were the only association with the low risk classification in the council area. He indicated that they had an open membership and a community based approach, governed by a voluntary management committee. They had properties throughout Argyll and Bute, and 252 homes in Kintyre alone, including some in Gigha and Campbeltown. They also had an area office and staff located in Campbeltown as well as Inspiralba, where Ailsa worked, and they used several local contractors from Campbeltown such as McKinven and Colville, and Livingston and McEachran. He stated that Fyne Futures, established as a charitable subsidiary of Fyne Homes in 2005 has taken forward community regeneration and environmental activities on behalf of Fyne Homes. In 2007, Communities Scotland/ Scottish Government encouraged and supported Fyne Futures to develop the Auchadaduie community benefit pilot project. He advised that between Fyne Homes and Fyne Futures:- they were a community and locally based company that has been around a long time; they were well respected with a proven track record, known to both the Scottish Government and Argyll and Bute Council; they were not a commercial developer; and that Fyne Homes and Fyne Futures were both community based charitable organisations. He stated that all of this meant that they were are not the usual wind farm developer or large scale energy provider. He stressed that the key message he would like to get across to today was that this project was of vital importance to not just the Fyne Group, but Argyll and Bute as a whole. He indicated that their company was a key player in the development of a sustainable and thriving rural community in Argyll and Bute, and wider across Scotland. He advised

throughout Argyll and Bute and that they spent approximately £5 million on new build development and maintenance each year. A spend which he advised was carried out, almost exclusively by Argyll and Bute based companies. He advised that they worked very closely in partnership with the Scottish Government and the Council to attract essential funding into Argyll and Bute to help provide much needed housing and employment. Annual Grant funding from the Scottish Government for Argyll and Bute Housing peaked at £26 million in 2009 and had now fallen to a mere £7 million. He stated that Argyll and Bute Council had to be congratulated for their innovative approach of supplying Strategic Housing Fund Grants and Rural Housing Development Fund Grants to Argyll Housing Associations to promote further development. However, he stated that they and their other Argyll RSL partners needed to try and bridge that shortfall even further if they wanted to try and maintain previous development and employment levels, never mind trying to exceed them to address the very serious and real issue of population decline in Argyll and Bute. He confirmed that they believed this project to be highly innovative, and a golden opportunity, through economic and community benefit, to generate approximately £780,000 a year into Argyll and Bute. He advised that this money could make a huge difference, if all spent on housing, it would mean 17 affordable social houses built; or all spent on employment, 31 jobs sustained each year. He urged the Councillors when considering this application to take account of the wider and very sustainable social, economic and regeneration merits of the scheme, which they believed were very much in line with the Scottish Planning system.

that the Fyne Group had approximately 50 staff members employed

Ailsa Clark

Ailsa Clark advised that she worked for Inspiralba, a locally based charitable enterprise, who provided development and management support to social enterprises across Argyll and Bute. She stated that they had been engaged to support the community consultation activities alongside Fyne Futures as part of the development process for the proposed 3 Turbines at Auchadaduie. She explained that prior to the submission of the planning application, they facilitated 3 consultation events. One in July 2010, another in August 2011 and the final one in July 2012 and that these events were attended by 20-28 people each time (about 30% of the village). She advised that the purpose of each of the events was to update the community on the wind turbine project, and give people the opportunity to comment and ask questions. In addition to the consultation events, she confirmed that a question and answer session took place in May 2012 and on the back of the consultation events, together with the pressure of turbine development proposals, the local community organised an independent liaison group. This was made up of school parent Council, Toddlers Group, Church and Village Hall, Caravan Park, Shop and Plant Nursery, War Memorial Trust, Farming and Agriculture along with the Community Council. She advised that the Liaison group carried out their own questionnaire and that this survey reported in the winter of 2012. She indicated that the results identified that 37.7% were opposed to the 3 turbines, 49.2% were in favour of this scheme, and 13.1% had no opinion. She stated that the Liaison group concluded that: The Fyne Futures wind project was highlighted as the

only turbine proposal that was supported by the local community. This was

'....mostly due to the fact that it is small, the company is a registered charity and the landowner actually lives in the village, therefore the chance of extensions to the proposal is much less likely than with anonymous companies.'

Based on the independent liaison group questionnaire, which was considered to represent and good portion of the local community, she advised that it could be said, that a 'majority' of the local community were in favour of the development. She confirmed that further work would be carried out to assist the community to identify priorities and develop a financial strategy, outlining short, medium and long term investment plans should consent be granted.

Referring to the potential economic and community benefits of this scheme she advised that this project was born from the motivation that communities in Scotland could and should be able to generate income for community benefit from renewables, and was initiated by Alan Hobbet who had previously worked with Isle of Gigha Heritage Trust and was instrumental in supporting the 3 turbine development, which had significantly contributed to reinvestment in the Community of the island. She pointed out that the Scottish Government has supported the project as one of a number of pilots to enable Housing Associations to develop renewable income to generate income for reinvestment in affordable housing and community priorities. She stated that in recent years, community benefits from turbine development went from nothing, to £1000-£2000 per MW per year, to £5,000-£7,000 per MW per year at present. She advised that this development would provide £113,000 per MW per year. She stated that community renewables can and have made a significant community funded contribution such as on Gigha and Tiree and advised that these three turbines at Auchadaduie had the potential to generate a community income of £780,000 each year with the financial model estimating £15.6 million of community benefit generated for Argyll and Bute over 20 years. She explained that the income from this would be 100% of the net profit generated, which would be split: 1/3 Fyne Homes for social housing charitable objectives; 1/3 Fyne Futures employability/environmental charitable objectives; and 1/3 local community (£260,000). She indicated that Fyne Homes and Fyne Futures have a proven track record in supporting community regeneration activities in Argyll and Bute, taking forward a number of employment training, community infrastructure, environmental and social enterprise activities across our operational area. She then with the aid of slide gave examples of some of these which had take place. She pointed out that a large focus of their regeneration work over the past 5 years has been in relation to supporting people with barriers and Local employment and training opportunities. This was based on local community plans where employment and access to employment has been continually been highlighted as a priority for the area. She advised that their current project supported by People and Communities with match funding from Europe has supported 35 funded employment opportunities with a range of social enterprises across the area. She indicated that both Fyne Homes and Fyne Futures had a track record in levering in substantial

match funding to support their charitable objectives and that they would aim to use the same approach with renewable energy income, thereby maximising investment opportunity in community benefit for the area. She advised that this project offered an opportunity for Argyll and Bute Council to demonstrate their commitment to community benefit from renewables, in line with the Renewable Energy Action Plan vision. She stated that this development offered an opportunity for locally based charitable enterprises to generate significant income for reinvestment in the local community and to ensure Argyll and Bute's economic success was built on a growing and sustainable population. Providing an opportunity to lever in significant additional match funding to support these priorities.

Sue Birnie

Sue Birnie advised that she was a planner for AMEC, the consultancy employed by the Applicant. She stated that she was going to talk today about the planning and associated environmental effects of the development and set out what she considered to be the key merits and issues associated with the turbine development. Firstly, she advised that through consultation and negotiation with consultees and the planners, the proposed scheme had no statutory objections and was well supported by the public, although she recognised that some people have objected and raised concerns. She pointed out that the environmental statement and the additional information accompanying the planning application concluded that the 3 turbines would not result in any significant effects on cultural heritage assets, ecology including ornithology, on forestry, peat, hydrology, noise, shadow flicker, on TV and radio reception, aviation or on the highway and indicated that this had been achieved either through the careful design of the scheme and mitigation that could be secured by planning conditions. She advised however that some localised significant effects were predicted on some aspects of the landscape and visual amenity. In terms of ornithology she confirmed that the environmental statement and the extensive survey work concluded that would be no significant effects on Ornithology including geese and that SNH confirmed this. In addition, she confirmed that the Council carried out an appropriate assessment, and that they concluded that the proposed turbines would not have an effect on the integrity of the Kintyre Goose Roost SPA. With regard to Forestry she confirmed that the late requirements raised by the Forestry Commission regarding tree felling had been resolved by an agreement to carry out compensatory planting. She indicated that Planning conditions had been agreed between themselves and the Forestry Commission and that these had been submitted to the Council for consideration. She then focussed on highways and confirmed that the concern raised in the Officer's report regarding the access and construction arrangements for the site had been addressed by the Applicant. She advised that information had been submitted to the Council to demonstrate that the road widening required to get the turbines to site could be carried out, and that the necessary land options were in place. She added that the number and size of vehicles, and estimated construction timescales had also been provided to the Council. She advised that both Transport Scotland and the Council's own highway engineers were raising no objections to the scheme subject to planning

conditions. She stated that the concerns raised and reason for refusal regarding the need to submit a traffic management plan was considered to be premature at application stage and advised that this was because a traffic management plan would normally be written once a contractor was appointed for the project, as their input to the safe construction arrangements was vital. She stated that contractors were only appointed after planning permission was granted. She advised that should Members resolve to grant permission, a condition to submit the traffic management plan should be included. She stated that in her experience it would be difficult to defend a reason for refusal on lack of information pertaining to a traffic management plan and pointed out that this approach was agreed for the nearby Freasdail windfarm scheme. In terms of the landscape and receptors or people within it, she confirmed that no one was disputing that the turbines would result in some localised significant effects. She stated that what must be considered was whether these effects were considered acceptable when weighed in the wider planning balance. She commented that the structure plan policy REC SI 4 talked about 'reinforcing local economies' and advised that the proposed turbines were located within the area identified in the structure plan as a 'renewable focus area'. At a local plan level (policy LP REN 1) she stated that wind farms were supported in forms and scales and for sites where the technology could operate efficiently, and where access and servicing was available. She also said that the policy further stated that this was subject to not having an 'unacceptable adverse impact' on the economic, social or physical aspects of sustainable development. She advised that the landscape concerns set out in the Officer's report and one of the recommended reasons for refusal related to the impacts on the neighbouring 'Rocky Mosaic' character area. The Officer's report concluded that the turbines would result in significant impacts on this smaller scale nearby character area. In terms of visual effects, she indicated that the Officer's report raised concerns regarding impacts on visual and residential amenity. As mentioned by Alisa, she stated that Fyne Homes has made every effort to engage with the local community and statutory consultees to understand the key landscape features and visual receptors, and to reduce these effects where possible. Following initial pre-application discussions with SNH and the Council, a number of design iterations were considered. A detailed design process had been carried out, and the 3 turbines provide a balanced design. She pointed out that the visualisations submitted showed very limited visibility and therefore the potential for significant effects were reduced. She added that where the turbines would be visible, the potential significant effects would be restricted to a limited area within 2.6km. She stated that she would like to reiterate the point that the turbines would be located in the 'upland forest moor mosaic', and that SNH and the Council agree that the effects on this landscape character area would not result in unacceptable impacts. She advised that this character area was able to accommodate 'large scale' wind turbine development, however it was recognised that the more complex and smaller scale hills and occasional narrow settled glens on the fringes of the character area were more sensitive. She indicated that the turbines would be set back from the more sensitive coastline by approximately 3km on the northern slopes of part of this land mass, and located within a large block of established plantation forestry. The turbines would be at the lower end of the recommended large turbine

typology in terms of height (ie up to 130m) and much smaller in terms of turbine number. She advised that the turbines would appear as part of a settled rural landscape, and behind Barr Glen. They would be viewed from within this settled landscape therefore, she stated that the effects on the neighbouring more sensitive Rocky Mosaic landscape character area, the perceived wildness of the area and the Areas of Panoramic Quality were considered to be acceptable. Furthermore, she explained that the turbines were not located within and would not result in significant effects on any national landscape designations, the coastline or other important receptors including the sea and Islands and most of the A83 tourist route. She confirmed that it was recognised that a short section of the A83 road, around the village of Glenbarr would experience some views of the turbines. She advised that when the turbines would be visible it was predicted that the focus would be towards the coast and away from the turbines. In terms of the Kintyre way, she advised that it was a long walk and there would be limited effects on the majority of the route. This was because of the distance (more than 2km at nearest point), and in part the transient nature of the users of footpaths. She referred to concerns raised regarding residential amenity and advised that the turbines were located 2.1km from the nearest settlement - Glenbarr, and all the individual properties were located in excess of 1km from the nearest turbine. She stated that the turbines took up a very limited field of view, and there were no direct views of the turbines together with the coastal landscape from the handful of properties predicted to have significant effects. She advised that this combined with the scale of the turbines, and the distance involved resulted in no property receiving an overbearing and therefore unacceptable impact from the turbines. She also referred to the concerns raised in the Officer's report regarding the potential cumulative effects of the turbines with other operational, consented and proposed wind farms, and the sequential cumulative effects through the local area, particularity along the A83 tourist road. She advised that the recent Freisdail appeal decision considered that only existing windfarms (ie those turbines that are operational or approved) should be considered when determining an She confirmed that further information has been submitted to the Council in terms of the cumulative effects. She stated that it was recognised that there was some cumulative effects at present, and these three turbines would inevitably contribute to these effects. However, she advised that from the ZTVs and visualisations before Members it could be seen that the in-combination cumulative effects were very limited and the sequential effects of these turbines with other visible turbines only occurred around the very local Glenbarr area. She advised that for these reasons, it was considered that the proposed turbines were located within a suitable landscape character type and the scale of the development, in terms of turbine height and number had taken account of the wider and more sensitive nearby landscape context, such that the turbines would be viewed as an acceptable scale of wind farm development. She stated that it was further considered that these turbines may fulfil the capacity of Barr Glen, and it was recognised that other large scale wind farm proposals could exceed the general recommendations of the Landscape capacity study in terms of landscape, visual amenity and cumulative development. She also addressed concerns raised regarding the potential for tourism to be adversely impacted by the proposed turbines. She advised that she understood that this area had a valued tourism and

risk. Having said this, she stated that wind turbines were a familiar sight in Scotland, and it was likely that visitors would 'expect' to experience some views of turbines. As already mentioned, she advised that the turbines would not result in unacceptable impacts on the landscape or on people using it. She indicated that the proposed turbines would result in significant investment in the local economy and social well being of the community, and the income raised from the turbines had the opportunity to attract 'further' investment opportunity to the Kintyre area through match funding. She stated that it was recognised that by their very nature, the turbines would result in some significant effects, but these effects had to be carefully balanced in the planning process with the strong presumption in favour of renewable and sustainable development, and in this case the unique and very special community based economic and social benefits that the income from these turbines would bring. She pointed out that there were no statutory objections to the scheme, and no significant impacts other than on some parts of the local landscape and visual receptors within it as identified in the Officer's report. She stated that the concerns raised in the Officer's report in terms of access could be controlled by planning condition. As mentioned already, she stated that the landscape, visual and cumulative effects needed to be weighted in the planning balance, and it was her opinion, that whilst some localised significant effects were predicted by the three turbines, the effects diminished with distance, and care had been taken to minimise the significant effects where possible. She stated that it was considered that the effects identified would not cause such harm to the landscape or the receptors within it, either alone, or in combination with other windfarms sufficient to outweigh the local and wider environmental and particularly the community and economic benefits of the scheme. Because of these special circumstances, she advised that it was respectfully recommended that Members support this scheme.

recreational economy, and that it was in no-ones interest to put this at

CONSULTEES

Roads Authority

James Ross advised that when consulted on this application Roads had not objected to this proposal however they did have concerns regarding the condition of the access road to the site. He confirmed that they had advised that conditions should be attached to any consent to address the details of works required to bring the road up to a suitable standard to cope with the increased volume of traffic and the weight of the vehicles expected to use the public access road. These conditions included carriageway widening, new passing places to be provided and existing passing places to be extended where required, and that a detailed condition survey is carried out prior to any work starting on site in order to identify and rectify any weak points on the road. He advised that it was also requested that weekly inspections be carried out on the road to ensure the carriageway remained in a safe condition. He stated that his main concern was the access to the road from the A83 due to the existing geometry of the junction. He referred to the imminent upgrading to a trunk road at this part of the A83 and advised that Transport Scotland would require to be consulted on any improvements to that junction.

SUPPORTERS

Duncan MacAlistair

Duncan MacAlistair advised that as landowner he had been approached over the years by many large wind farm developers and that this was the first proposal that appealed to him due to the fact that it would be lead by an Argyll based charitable company, revenue would remain in Argyll and that he believed this small scale proposal was acceptable to this area.

Fergus Younger

Fergus Younger advised that he was from the Argyll and Bute Agricultural Forum which was a rural partnership supporting crofting and agriculture in Argyll which was in decline. He referred to a strategy set up by the Forum which had four themes and that one of those was to broaden the income stream for farmers and that they believed the renewable sector was a way to do this. He advised that he was involved in initial meetings to establish this development and that he had made the initial contact between Duncan MacAlistair and Fyne Futures. He recognised this development as a positive model that could benefit the farming community, assist to make farming more viable and benefit the local community and as a model could be replicated to benefit the agricultural sector and communities across Argyll and Bute.

Lorraine MacPhail

Lorraine MacPhail advised that Glenbarr, and in particular Barr Glen where she lived, was presently in the unenviable position of having proposals for 3 separate applications for windfarm instillations. With this in mind she stated that it was with slight trepidation that she spoke in support of the Auchadaduie proposal of 3 turbines at a height of 100 metres to be sited in the glen. She said that there was a chance that Planners would take any suggestion of support to say that a precedent had been set and then allow the other proposals. She stated that her hopes were that common sense and fairness would prevail and the fact that they already had Beinn an Tuirc with its extensions at the head of the glen therefore the small Auchadaduie proposal would mean agreement that saturation had been reached for a three mile stretch of single track country road which was home to 10 families. She confirmed that in Glenbarr there were over 40 other homes. She pointed out that Auchadaduie would be sited on land belonging to a local farmer/landowner who was born and raised in Glenbarr. She said that he was well aware of local opinion regarding the larger applications and it was extremely unlikely that this windfarm would be extended. She stated that there had been in the past, as with the other Applicants, some discussion as to community benefit. She advised that Fyne Futures was a subsidiary of Fyne Homes which was a charity housing association and at these meetings they proposed that the profits of one turbine would come directly to the Glenbarr community. At the height of all the local discussions with all three of the companies relating to windfarm applications she advised that there was a survey of the 52 households

that were in Glenbarr. The results were collated and sent to the Scottish Government and the local planning office in August 2012. 104 forms were distributed to every adult in these 52 homes. 61 forms were returned giving a return of 58.65%. She stated that these forms related to all three applications, however, the application being discussed today was Auchadaduie so the results relating to this application showed 49.18% in favour, 37.7% against and 13.11% with no given opinion. In respect of Creggans she advised that 91.8% were against, 1.63% in favour, 4.91% with no comment and 1.63% who could not comment. In respect of Blary Hill she advised that 83.6% were against, 16.39% with no opinion and no one in favour.

Other than these figures which represented the views of the villagers at that time, she stated that she spoke only to her opinion today. She advised that she believed that given that the Scottish Government policy was that Scotland was aiming for 100% renewable energy by 2020 that by accepting the Auchadaduie proposal and already having Beinn an Tuirc at the head of the glen that Glenbarr more than met their quota for such a small rural community. She confirmed that she would support this application as she believed it would have relatively less visual impact with only three turbines, the company proposing was a charity based organisation and the local landowner would take cognisance of local opinion and would not increase the number of turbines. She stated that she was aware of differing opinion relating to community benefit and appreciated that this was not a consideration within the planning proposal, however, she said that she felt that the community benefit proposed would enable this small community to enhance their area and support local organisations and projects.

Phil Herd

Phil Herd advised that he saw this proposal having a minimal effect on the surroundings of Glenbarr. He stated that it would be very good and would pay well. He advised that the proposed three wind turbines would generate more power that twelve turbines further up the glen. He advised that there was a need to get power and that this was the way to do it.

Duncan Hunter

Duncan Hunter advised that he lived in Edinburgh, had a farm at Dalkeith and that he was familiar with this area. He stated that up till now wind turbines have been dominated by very large companies and advised that there should be opportunities for smaller turbine developers. He referred to the off shore structure at Wigtownshire and stated that this was massive and intrusive in view and a sign of what to expect in the future. He stated that this proposal would only provide a fraction of the views that you would get from other turbines. He advised that he would like to encourage small wind farm production.

Peter Sinclair

Peter Sinclair advised that he was the owner of the Glenbarr store and nursery and that he has lived in the shop flat for 58 years, right at the very

centre of the community. He stated that his family went back for generations. He advised that he has always been passionate about Glenbarr and he referred to the woodland areas and network of pathways which included bridges and other structures which had falling into decline. He also referred to the war memorial and the cemetery which was also in need of repair. He advised that the repair, reinstatement and renewal of these areas of the glen would be possible if this proposal went ahead due to the community fund which would be delivered through this project and he stated that this was a great opportunity. He pointed out that Gigha, Ardrishaig and Orkney all had wind farms which were of great benefit to their communities. He asked the Planners to consider what could be achieved from a positive outcome and what could be lost from a negative outcome. He advised that the positives far outweighed the negatives.

OBJECTORS

John Seddon

John Seddon advised that he has lived in Glenbarr for 14 years and that he objected to the application. He stated that the overriding reason for his objection was the visual impact on the glen. He pointed out that the Barr Glen road was one of only two in Kintyre giving easy access to the central area of the peninsular. He stated that it was regularly used by hikers, joggers, cyclists and motorists, both local and from further afield, especially during the holiday season. He stated that they already had the Beinn an Tuirc windfarm at the head of the glen and that these turbines at 60m tall had been sympathetically sited, filling an undulation in the hilltop and continuing the contour at either side. Travelling up the glen road he advised that they all but disappeared behind the hill. He added that from Glenbarr village to Beinn an Tuirc there were no man-made structures along the whole of the curve of the hillside. He stressed that the three proposed turbines at 100m high would be the dominant feature, completely incongruous and visible from the glen road from one end to the other altering the whole characteristic of such a peaceful place. Being so close to the coast he stated that the Zone of Theoretical Visibility maps also showed them visible for miles out to sea to Gigha and Islay. He advised that it had also been estimated in the environmental study that there would be 3196 HGV journeys through Glenbarr village to complete the project. He added that he would also point out that if the turbines were built, there would also have to be the infrastructure to take the power from Glenbarr to the sub-station in Carradale, but that would be a separate planning issue at a later date and that this would be a major undertaking for three turbines. He advised that he also had concerns, together with the RSPB, over the roosting population of Greenland White Fronted Geese on Loch Arnicle. He commented that the RSPB said there was no real assessment as to how the turbines would affect the Glenbarr population of geese. He stated that not only was there the possibility of turbine collision, but if the roost as a whole went elsewhere because of disturbance, the glen would be a poorer place. He stressed that Greenland White Fronted Geese were so rare as to be on the EU Birds Directive List, Annex 1, which gave them the highest protection and that we should be encouraging them to the area, not putting obstacles in their way. He stated that if it were White Tailed Sea Eagles rather than

considering erecting 100m turbines in the area. He advised that although he applauded Fyne Futures for their work building affordable housing, he stated that he believed none of these were planned for Glenbarr. He commented that as the power produced by the turbines was not to be directly used by any local property, but fed into the grid, it was primarily a profit-making scheme with the power produced being secondary. He stated that as Fyne Futures funding appeared to be non-area specific, there must be more suitable, less visible places than Auchadaduie to have such large, industrial turbines and siting them in any less sensitive area would produce the same financial benefits. He stated that the turbines did not have to be in Glenbarr and that we should not be pressurised into accepting such an ill-sighted scheme, whatever the good cause. He advised that as more wind turbines appeared in Kintyre we were in danger of not realising how they were changing, and had already changed the landscape. He acknowledged that change was inevitable, but advised that the rapid increase of turbines across the peninsular in inappropriate places had to be kept in check. He stressed that what were once scenic views, were now dotted with turbines which, by their very nature, being tall, usually white, and spinning, immediately grabbed the attention. He commented that turbines had their uses, but only in the right places and that the top of a Glenbarr hillside was not one of them. He stated that he was not alone in thinking the Kintyre countryside must be protected and that it was more important than the promise of community benefit monies from badly sited turbines to fund local projects that have yet to be thought of and which we have managed without so far. He referred to the community survey and stated that to accept this on the basis that there would be less chance of other two proposals going ahead was not a good enough reason to recommend acceptance of this proposal.

geese roosting near Loch Arnicle, he was sure we would not even be

MEMBERS' QUESTIONS

Councillor Trail asked the Applicant if he was correct to assume that a solution to the problem regarding access from the A83 had still to be found. Sue Bernie referred to the swept path analysis which had been carried out and which showed how the turbines would be transported. She explained that the finer details regarding how much wider the road would need to be were still to be submitted. She confirmed that the Applicant with the landowner had control of the land and the investment of money to enable these works to be carried out.

Councillor Trail sought and received clarification from Sue Birnie that if planning permission was granted a contractor would be appointed to work out the finer details. She advised that it was not in the Applicant's interest to appoint a contractor at this stage.

Councillor McNaughton sought and received clarification from Ailsa Clark that the land was available to the Applicant.

Councillor Colville referred to the maps showing the visual impact of the development and stated his surprise at how small the area was that would be impacted on. He asked the Planners if they would agree that the

views from Machrihanish would be very distant. Richard Kerr confirmed this to be the case. He stated that there would be very long distant viewpoints from Gigha, Machrihanish and the Sound of Gigha and that they would be sufficiently distant from the proposal not to be a serious concern. He agreed that the visual envelope of the scheme was small but stated that it was the sensitivity of the area which would be impacted on rather that the geographical spread of the development that was of concern. He stated that these were very large scale turbines for the area.

Councillor Colville referred to travelling up and down the A83 and asked the Planners if they would agree people would need to take their eye off the road and specifically look for the turbines in order to view them. Richard Kerr confirmed that when travelling north there would be a limited view of them. He stated that when travelling south people would be aware of them from the war memorial for about 100m.

Councillor McCuish referred to SNH not objecting to this proposal and to their comment about the significant visual impact of the turbines and asked that given the fact that there were already wind turbines in the area would it not be fair to say that there would just be medium or even a neutral impact on the area. Richard Kerr confirmed that SNH have concerns with this proposal but they did not submit a formal objection on landscape or visual grounds as it does not prejudice a national designation. Accordingly he advised that SNH has confined itself to the provision of advice to the Council on the landscape and visual merits of the proposal. He explained that if it is advice that is provided this can either be taken or ignored but if a formal objection is made and this is ignored this would require a notification to the Scottish Government. He advised that this was the reason why a decision has been taken nationally by SNH that they would only make objections when national designations were prejudiced. He stated that the response from SNH was very similar to a lot of responses from them regarding wind turbines; they don't object but give their reasons why they consider development to be inappropriate. In this case it is their view that the sensitively of this area was such that the impact of the development on it would be significant. If the development was proposed for a less populated, less sensitive area it would not raise the same issues.

Councillor McCuish sought clarification from Planning on the impact already in the area. Richard Kerr advised that this was difficult to answer. He confirmed that Barr Glen was a renewables hot spot at the moment. He referred to the two operational wind farms at Beinn an Tuirc, the proposal for a very large wind farm submitted to the Scottish Government at the other side of the glen and to the application expected in relation to Blary Hill. He advised that determining the implications of one for another was difficult to deal with. He stated that the straight answer was that in planning there was no precedent and that each application should be assessed on its own merits. However, he advised that in respect of wind farms there was a need to take account of cumulative impact. He confirmed that when considering cumulative impact there was a need to take account of operational developments, consented development not yet implemented and proposed developments. He advised that it would depend on your view whether or not the granting of this planning

permission would advantage or disadvantage other schemes. He advised that the decision taken on this proposal would have implications for what may follow and may turn out to be good or may turn out to be bad in respect of the Creggans proposal which would be a Scottish Government decision.

Councillor McCuish sought and received clarification from Planning that SNH have not objected to this proposal. Richard Kerr advised that they gave relatively strong advice to the Council. He stated that the scale of the turbines did not meet good practice guidelines and did not comply with the Wind Energy Capacity Study commissioned jointly by the Council and SNH.

The Chair ruled and the Committee agreed to adjourn the meeting at 1.05 pm for lunch.

The Committee reconvened at 1.30 pm.

MEMBERS' QUESTIONS

Councillor Currie referred to the access from the A83 and asked the Applicant who owned the ground between the access onto the A83 and the access onto the Barr Glen road and also asked if this was part of the application. Ailsa Clark referred to the swept path from the A83 and confirmed that Duncan MacAlistair owned the land. Sue Bernie advised that the landowner had confirmed that the land would be available to the Applicant in order to create a suitable access. She advised that these works were not part of the planning application but if a condition was attached to any consent requesting details of the works required in respect of upgrade of the junction then this would be come part of the development.

Councillor Currie referred to the statement made by the Scottish Government Reporter regarding the Freasdail development which stated that it was not right for the Council to refuse an application because the details of access requirements were not known as this could be dealt with by condition and sought clarification from Planning on this. Richard Kerr advised that two things needed to be taken account of, the physical works on the land and the means of how you would go about deliveries and construction. He confirmed that in respect of the Freasdail application all the access arrangements and details of work at the junction had been provided but what was missing was the method statement for the actual traffic itself. He explained that the number of vehicles, the size and type of vehicles to be used and the number of movements were not known. He advised that the SG Reporter took the view that this additional information would be dealt with by way of condition. He stated that in this case the information provided was for the application site itself and the access to it from the Barr Glen road. He referred to the swept path analysis and road widening required along this road which was within the Applicant's control as shown in the plan. He advised that the access from the A83 on the Barr Glen road was beyond the blue line boundary and therefore outwith the Applicant's control. He confirmed that whatever happened there would require to be a separate planning application which may involve the

trunk road authority. He stated that there was no guarantee that the land would be available for the works required at this junction.

Councillor Currie noted that Planning had stated that the land beyond the road end at Barr Glen was not in the application and the Applicant said that it was and he sought clarification on this. Sue Bernie confirmed that the application site was the area outlined in red and the boundary of the land controlled by the Applicant marked in blue. She confirmed that the access point from the main road was not included in the application but the landowner owned the land on either side therefore the junction work could be carried out in terms of land ownership. She stated that it was the Applicant's opinion that the need for a separate planning application for these works was only required for a new junction and not the upgrade of an existing junction. She stated that provided the Applicant came up with the money for the works, the land was available so the works could be delivered.

Councillor McNaughton sought and received clarification from Richard Kerr that whether a new junction or upgrade to the existing junction was required this would require a separate planning application to be submitted.

Councillor Currie asked Planning if the works at the A83 junction should have been included in the application. Richard Kerr advised that it could not have been easily included as it would not have been known what works would have been required. He advised that you would have expected two applications, one for the development and one for enabling works at the junction.

Councillor Freeman sought and received clarification from Planning that cumulative impact was one of their reasons for recommending refusal of this application.

Councillor Freeman asked if the volume and weight of the aggregate required to be taken on to the site was known and also where it would come from. Richard Kerr confirmed that the quantities were given as part of the application and he confirmed that these were quite extensive for a development of this scale give the absence of intended borrow pits. He confirmed that all aggregate would be transported to the site as well as the turbine components themselves but the details in respect of how much, weight or origin were not known as a method statement had not been submitted.

Councillor Freeman asked if this detail was not known how could it be determined what works were required along the Barr Glen road. Richard Kerr advised that the total number of vehicle movements expected would be just over 3,000. James Ross stated that this was a narrow single track road and that he had asked that a condition survey be carried prior to the commencement of any works in order to identify and rectify any weak points on the road.

Councillor Freeman commented that taking account of the number of vehicle movements and the tonnage of the vehicles this could mean up to

60,000 tonnes on average travelling along this road. James Ross confirmed that this would be the case and stated that they had asked for the construction of new additional passing places and longer ones to accommodate these heavier vehicles. Richard Kerr read out the detail in the Environmental Statement which detailed the different types of loads and number of loads expected to be carried along the road.

Councillor Blair asked was it not normal that when a condition was attached to any consent a timescale was given for executing the condition. Richard Kerr advised that it was certainly open for Planning to do this when access was not contentious. He advised that when you have an unusual access arrangement like here the precautionary position was to get this up front to prevent development with permission that was unachievable. He stated that most wind turbine applications took access from main roads or forestry roads rather than minor roads such as this.

Councillor Blair advised that he had noted that sensitive countryside had been referred to by the Planners 15 times and only 3 or 4 times by the Applicant. He asked how the definition of sensitivity was quantified. Richard Kerr advised that the forest area was not sensitive and confirmed that this was not a pristine landscape and that was why that they had not included a reason for refusal in respect of the impact on the Landscape Character Type (LCT) of this area. He stated that the issue with the development was that because it was on the edge of the LCT it would throw its influence on to adjacent areas which were more sensitive by definition. He referred to the proposed Kilchattan wind farm site at Southend which was dismissed on Appeal. The view taken in that case was that due to the location of the development being at the edge of a LCT it would throw its influence on to the adjacent more sensitive area.

Councillor Blair asked if Roads would insist that the Barr Glen road be taken back to its existing state at the end of the project. James Ross confirmed this was only the case in respect of the sections of temporary carriageway widening which would need to be soiled and seeded on completion of construction works.

Councillor Colville asked if there was any weight restriction on the C20 road and James Ross advised not at the moment. Councillor Colville referred to the number of farm vehicle movements on the road at the moment and stated that these needed to be born in mind.

Councillor Colville referred to the assessment and summary of determining issues and material considerations section of the report of handling which stated "The application site is located on the southern ridge line of Barr Glen and would be highly visible from in and around the settlement of Glenbarr". He then referred to reason for refusal number 1 which stated "The application site is located on the southern ridge of Barr Glen which constitutes one of the 'hidden glens' of the Kintyre peninsula". He commented that there appeared to be a conflict between these two statements and sought clarification. He also referred to comment on P18 of the agenda pack "As well as casting an immediate effect over the small scale sensitive hills of Kintyre and Gigha". Richard Kerr referred to the statement made about hidden glens and also to the geography of Kintyre.

He advised they were neither prominent nor heavily frequented but this did not mean they did not have inherent landscape qualities of their own. He pointed out that there were not many of them and that they ought to be protected. He advised that they shared the same Landscape Character Type as the coast in this area and as such needed to be protected in much the same way as the coast.

Councillor Colville referred to the Gigha wind turbines and asked was he not correct to say that when Gigha was granted planning permission a material consideration was the community benefit that would be generated. He asked what the difference was between that application and this application. Richard Kerr advised that the Gigha application was a homespun proposal to enable the Gigha community to pay back a loan. The development was located on the community's own land and that it was a community venture supported by everyone bar one. He advised that this was a different proposal promoted by a Social Enterprise Company with no associated intrinsic connection to the site and which could be located on a more favourable site. He advised that it did not have the same associations as the homespun scheme.

Councillor Colville referred to the reasons for refusal including cumulative impact. He referred to the Creggans application submitted to the Scottish Government and asked why it was necessary to take account of something which may or may not happen in the future. Richard Kerr advised that it was up to the Committee to decide what they considered amounted to cumulative impact. He stated that SNH advice in respect of the assessment of cumulative impact was published and very specific. They stated that account should be taken of not only operational developments and consented developments not yet implemented but also ones that were in the planning system. He explained that this was why reference was made to the Creggan windfarm in the reasons for refusal as this application has been submitted to the Scottish Government. He stated that the Blary Hill application was not referred to in the reasons for refusal as this application had not been submitted yet.

Councillor Colville stated that if the Committee were minded to grant this planning application then the Scottish Government would need to take this into consideration when determining the Creggans application.

Councillor Colville sought and received clarification from Planning that if a traffic management plan and method statement were submitted by the Applicant this would no longer be a reason for refusal.

Councillor McCuish commented that this was an application for three wind turbines and not for access which was the developer's risk. He referred to the comparison made between this application and the Gigha development. He stated that if Fyne Futures did not develop here then the 1/3 of the community benefit money would not stay in Argyll. He asked James Ross to confirm that Roads did not have an objection to this proposal and to also confirm that the access situation would be difficult but would not be impossible and could be dealt with by way of a suspensive condition. James Ross confirmed that Roads had no objection. He also confirmed that the access works were not impossible

but would be a risk to the Applicant.

Councillor McCuish asked if it was fair to say that the Committee did not need to consider this risk and James Ross replied yes but normally this information would be provided up front. He advised that any works required at the junction could have an implication for adjacent road works.

Councillor MacIntyre asked Planning to confirm whether or not they had received the additional information requested regarding access to the site. Richard Kerr confirmed that they received the information regarding access onto the site but this did not include the entrance from the A83.

Councillor MacIntyre sought and received clarification from Colin Renfrew that the projected community benefit figure of £780,000 was total net profit after all costs and that the community of Glenbarr would receive 1/3 of that.

Councillor Taylor sought clarification on the stance taken by the Forestry Commission. Richard Kerr advised that this application was submitted in 2011 and at that time the Forestry Commission were not interested in wind farm proposals. He advised that the Forestry Commission were now more aware and that it was in their interest to ensure that forestry operations were not impacted on and that they now asked for compensatory planting to be identified to satisfy the National Forestry Strategy. He advised that they were happy with the measures proposed to be put in place by the Applicant if this development was to go ahead.

Councillor Trail advised that he had heard today that the problem of access could be overcome by way of condition yet this was a reason for recommending refusal of the application. He asked Planning to explain why they were concerned if the access arrangements could not be achieved. Richard Kerr stated that having access to the development site was fundamental. He advised that if planning permission were granted you could end up with a permission which was in effect not implementable. He commented that to be dependent on another planning permission coming forward was not good customer care and ideally they would have liked to have seen the two planning applications submitted hand in hand.

Councillor McCuish sought and received clarification from Planning that the upgrading of the existing junction with the public road as detailed at section A of the report of handling referred to the junction of the forestry road going onto the C20 Barr Glen road and not the junction on to the A83 road.

SUMMING UP

Planning

Richard Kerr advised that Barr Glen was one of the hidden glens of Kintyre which ran at right angles to the coast and intruded into the upland interior of the spine of the peninsula. He stated that these glens were of

a markedly different character to the more expansive upland moorland, being agricultural in character and settled in nature. He added that they shared some of the visual and landscape characteristics of the more scenic and sensitive locations along the Kintyre coast, which was why SNH in landscape analysis of Argyll had included both the west Kintyre coast and Barr Glen with the 'Rocky Mosaic' landscape character type (LCT). He advised that the most promising opportunities for large scale wind Turbine development in Kintyre lay within the upland forest moor mosaic landscape character type as evidenced by consented wind farms such as Beinn an Tuirc. He pointed out that whilst the application site lay within this LCT it was on its extremities where it would shed influence over the adjacent and more sensitive 'Rocky Mosaic'. He advised that the Council's Landscape Wind Energy Capacity Study (LWECS) was at pains to point out that capacity for turbine development was not to be found unfairly across the Upland Forest Moor Mosaic and that, in particular, it directed development to the expansive Moorland and forested areas of the interior of the spine. He stated that it recognised that development towards the edge of this area would impinge on more settled and sensitive landscape by being imposing on the skylines which formed the landscape margins defining the glen. He pointed out that this presence was particularly unwelcome where the scale of the turbine was disproportionate to the elevation of the receiving landscape, giving rise to an apparent diminution in the scale landscape, to the detriment of the character and the setting of Barr Glen. He confirmed that it was both the view of SNH and Officers that the location and the size of the turbine proposed were inappropriate in this case. He stated that given the pressure of operational wind farms in Kintyre and having regard to the undetermined application at Creggan, the cumulative impact of multiple sites was an important consideration in this case. He advised that Beinn an Tuirc wind farms already expressed an influence along the length of Barr Glen despite the turbine size being smaller and the location of the site being further removed from the glen than the current proposal. He confirmed that Planning's conclusion was that the glen did not have residual capacity to accommodate turbine development of the size proposed, a position which was endorsed by SNH, and which was specifically guarded against by the Council's LWECS. He stated that the proposal would not share the topographic and geographic advantages of the established pattern of commercial turbine development which was on the spine of Kintyre and which benefitted form greater separation form habitation, transport routes, and the more scenic and sensitive landscape associated with the coast and glens of Kintyre. He advised that in addition to concerns relating to the visual and cumulative impact of such large turbines at relatively low elevation, there were also issues concerning access to the development site. He pointed out that access was required from the A83, along the Barr Glen Road, before forestry roads and access tracks extension could achieve a means of access to the site. He explained that this would entail intensive vehicle usage and large scale components transiting the Barr Glen Road, which was lightly constructed and narrow and therefore to be regarded as a fragile route. He stated that whilst the Applicants have provided certain details in relation to anticipated access requirements Planning considered these to be deficient in terms of the details of the means of access from the A83 and lack of traffic management plan and a detailed method statement,

which would provide reassurance that access would be practicable and the land necessary for improvements would be available. He pointed out that Members would be aware that it had become the practice of the Committee to require access and transport matters to be addressed in full at the application stage so as to avoid the situation where matters expected to be addressed by way of planning conditions proved to be unviable or incapable of resolution, effectively frustrating the implementation of any consent. He advised that in this case it had not been demonstrated beyond doubt that access was practicable or affordable, and it would be imprudent to approve the application in these circumstances. He stated that much had been made today of the sustainable development model being proposed here with local benefits which would not otherwise accrue with a utility company promoted proposal. Additionally he stated that the social enterprise credentials and the community focused aspirations of the developer had been advanced as a reason for giving the application more formidable consideration had the identity of the application and the development model proposed been different. He stated that he was sure Members were all aware of the track record of the Fyne Group and also the benefits to be devised from community based energy schemes which provided better prospect in retaining finance generated within Argyll and Bute and he advised that these were not in dispute. However he pointed out that the focus of Members' consideration should be on the local environmental merits of the proposals not the merits of the project as a business model to help fund the Fyne Group and the indirect benefits which would accrue to the local community as a result. He advised that this development model could achieve the same benefits in a less sensitive and more appropriate location elsewhere, as identified in the LWECS and there was therefore no overriding imperative to develop this particular site. Accordingly he stated that in the event that Members were persuaded that the development model had merit as a means of finalising the activities of Fyne Futures they should be aware that this would not warrant feasible consideration for turbines of a size and location which, had the Applicant been different, would have led them to conclude otherwise. He commended to Members the three reasons to refuse set out in the request before them.

Applicant

Colin Renfrew advised that Fyne Homes and Fyne Futures were an award winning well respected locally based company with a proven track record of delivering quality and investing in communities, and that they have been around a long time. He stated that they were community based charitable organisations and not a commercial developer. He confirmed that extensive consultation had been carried out, and the independent survey carried out by the local liaison group concluded that:- The Fyne Futures wind project was highlighted as the only turbine proposal that was supported by the local community; that this project was unique and highly innovative; it had the potential to generate approximately £780,000 a year into Argyll and Bute alone - this was £15.6 million over the life of the development; and furthermore, this money had the ability to generate far more through match funding. He stated that this 780,000 could make a huge difference, 17 affordable social houses built; or 31 jobs each year for

20 years. He confirmed that it was recognised that by their very nature, the turbines would result in some significant effects, but these effects had to be carefully balanced in the planning process with the strong presumption in favour of renewable and sustainable development, and in this case the unique and very special community based economic and social benefits that the significant income from these turbines would bring. He advised that it was further considered that this small scale turbine development may fulfil the capacity of Barr Glen and therefore other large scale wind farm proposals could exceed the landscape capacity around the Glen. He pointed out that there were no statutory objections to the scheme, and it was considered that the effects identified would not cause such harm to the landscape or the users of it, either alone, or in combination with other windfarms sufficient to outweigh the local and wider environmental and particularly the significant community and economic benefits of the scheme. He advised that in their opinion the concerns raised in the Officer's report had been addressed. He stated that because of these special circumstances, this wind turbine project would enable development of much needed social affordable housing and employment opportunities; therefore it was respectfully recommended that Members support this scheme.

Consultees

Roads Authority

James Ross confirmed that the road improvements could all be dealt with by condition and that they would need to be accepted by the Roads Authority. He noted that the Applicant had advised that they had control of all the land and stated that he did not know how they could know that without doing a swept path analysis at that A83 junction. He pointed out that shortly this junction would be outwith Argyll and Bute Council as it would be part of the Scottish Government's trunk road. He stated that the SG may accept a temporary access. In terms of land ownership he referred to there being two options open to the Applicant. They could move the junction further south or they may be able to take a corner away at the junction. He advised that it would have been good if this had been included as part of the application. He stated that other issues he had highlighted could be dealt with by condition but may have cost implications for the Applicant.

<u>Supporters</u>

Duncan MacAlister

Duncan MacAlister advised that what the Applicant had said about land ownership was correct.

Duncan Hunter

Duncan Hunter advised that there would be massive community benefit if planning permission was granted which would be shared with the Glenbarr community.

Peter Sinclair

Peter Sinclair advised that the problems were not as big as they were being made out to be.

Objectors

John Seddon referred to the local survey carried out by Fyne Futures and advised that 30 people were in favour of the development and 23 were against it which was not a landslide. He also advised that to accept this on the basis that there would be less chance of the other two proposals going ahead was not a good enough reason to recommend acceptance of this proposal.

The Chair asked all those present to confirm if they had received a fair hearing and they all but one confirmed this to be the case.

John Seddon advised that he had noticed that during the proceedings a Member of the Committee had fallen asleep and asked how they could be certain of reaching a decision if their full attention had not been given. When asked he identified Councillor Donald MacMillan as the Member. It was noted that Councillor MacMillan did not accept this to be true and it was agreed that this would be recorded in the Minute.

DEBATE

Councillor Freeman advised that he was sympathetic with the proposal and noted that some of the issues raised today were not simple or straightforward and that some could be dealt with by condition. He asked if the Committee were minded to support the application would it be possible to continue consideration of the application to allow time for the Planners to recommend appropriate conditions and reasons.

Charles Reppke confirmed that this was a matter for the Committee to decide and that they could do if they so wished.

Councillor Colville advised that he travelled up and down the Kintyre road on a regular basis and that he could see the Gigha windfarm which he advised did not cause him particular harm. He stated that he had no doubt in his mind that the only reason those turbines were there was because of the community benefit. He took the point that Planning had made that the land and the turbines were owned by the community in that case. He stated that he has lived in the Kintyre area all his life and that he knew Barr Glen well and that it used to be a well populated area. He also noted that this was a highly motivated community. He advised that this local community landscape had a proliferation of wind turbines. He stated that there was a need to grab every opportunity for the local communities and that he was minded to support Councillor Freeman's suggestion of continuing the application.

Councillor McCuish stated that he was supportive of this application. He referred to the turbine on the Island of Tiree which stood proudly

generating money for the community. He pointed out that the Wind Energy Capacity Study was a guidance document only. He commented that SNH had given a long list of concerns but did not feel they were strong enough to enable them to make an objection. He pointed out that Roads also had no objection. He stated that this was a community trying to help itself and that there were only 3 reasons for refusal which he believed they could get round.

Councillor Blair commented that they had received a very good presentation from the Applicant and that he was minded to support the application. He stated that there was a need to not only look to the past but to look to the future and where you want to go. He referred to generating money to benefit people and stated again that he was minded to support this application.

Councillor Currie advised that to support the application was not good enough and that there was a need for someone to come forward with a competent Motion for approval and that was where it was difficult. He referred to the three reasons for refusal and advised that these were in relation to visual impact, cumulative impact and access. He stated that he believed they could deal with two but one of these would be more difficult but hoped that he had a competent Motion that would be able to address this. He referred to the three turbines and stated that it was not a question of community benefit or commercial benefit. He referred to the two Kelpies on the M9 and stated that these huge structures stood out but were attractive. He also commented that the Gigha turbines looked good. On the other hand he also stated that you seen some wind farms which were just ugly. He commented that these three turbines standing on their own could be seen as a feature of the landscape.

Councillor Trail advised that he took a slightly different view from Councillor Currie. He advised that he believed these three turbines would be out of scale and that the visual impact would be quite considerable on Barr Glen. Against that, he said, was the issue of how the money would benefit the community if the application was granted. He stated that this was an emotional thing and not a material planning consideration. He stated that he was concerned about the issues raised regarding the access though noted that the Applicant had given assurance that it could be achieved. He commented that a decent drawing showing the access arrangements would have been helpful and convincing and the fact that this had not been forthcoming raised suspicions for him. He advised that he would support the Planner's recommendation to refuse the application.

Councillor Taylor expressed his dismay that the Community Council had chosen not to respond when consulted on this application. He advised that he was concerned about the cumulative impact and that the scale of the turbines was important too and referred to the SNH providing advice on what was acceptable in terms of the scale of turbines in relation to the height of the hill. He noted that SNH had advised the Council that their scale was unacceptable. He noted that SNH had not objected and that the reason for this was known. He advised that he was content to give weight to what SNH said in respect of cumulative impact and scale and confirmed that he would support the Officer's recommendation to refuse

the application.

Councillor MacMillan stated that he had listened to all that had been said and advised that he thought it would be difficult to come up with a competent Motion to approve this application as there were too many black spots. He advised that he would support the Planners.

Councillor MacIntyre referred to the issue of community benefit which would be nice to get round. He advised that he was minded to support the application and would like to hear the detail of Councillor Currie's Motion.

Councillor McNaughton stated that he found this a difficult application to deal with. He advised that his head said one thing and his heart the other. He confirmed that he would move to support the Planner's recommendation to refuse the application.

Motion

To agree to refuse planning permission for the reasons stated in the report of handling.

Moved by Councillor Alex McNaughton, seconded by Councillor Sandy Taylor

Amendment

Weight is given to the fact that the application site does not lie within, or immediately adjacent to any landscape designation. Impact on the nearest site would be minimal. The landscape character type (LCT) within which the proposal is situated (Upland Forest Moor Mosaic) is of 'medium' sensitively; therefore the development can be absorbed without overall detriment to the LCT, despite the existing level of wind farm development on the peninsula. While noting the concerns of the impact on the Coastal Rocky Mosaic LCT it is concluded that this would not be significantly adverse. Due to the relatively small number of turbines (3), the visual impacts of the scheme will be within acceptable limits.

In cumulative impact terms, since it is only 3 turbines the application would not unacceptably affect landscape character or visual scenic interests. The scheme would be the only wind farm in Barr Glen with only partial visibility of neighbouring Beinn an Tuirc. The principle cumulative impact raised by Planners is regarding visual effects of multiple developments, therefore in this application the cumulative impact is minor. As the scheme would not impinge unacceptably on neighbouring landscape character types or key views there is not agreement with the conclusions of the Council and SNH that the "Argyll and Bute Landscape Wind Energy Capacity Study" justifies a refusal in this case. Whilst there would be impacts on road users, these would be transitory and localised and would not be unacceptable. With separation of at least 2.1 km from the nearest property, no house would experience impacts which would justify withholding consent in terms of visual impacts.

It is not uncommon for wind farm access arrangements to be dealt with by means of condition and this would be appropriate in this case. Therefore a suspensive condition should be attached requiring the submission of a traffic management plan.

Local economic benefit of the scheme is important and a material consideration.

The application should be approved.

Moved by Councillor Robin Currie, seconded by Councillor Rory Colville

When asked Richard Kerr confirmed that this could be a competent Amendment as long as Councillor Currie included consideration of Local Plan Policy LP REN 1 and confirmed whether the proposal was consistent with this Policy or a departure from the Policy. He advised further that if Councillor Currie therefore considered the proposal to be consistent with this Policy then yes the Amendment would be competent.

Councillor Currie confirmed that it was his opinion that the proposal was consistent with this Policy for the reasons already advised.

Councillor Taylor commented that Councillor Currie had advised that the nearest property to the site was 2.1 km away and pointed out that this was not correct. Richard Kerr confirmed that the settlement of Glenbarr was 2.1 km from the site but that the nearest property was 1.1 km away from the site.

Councillor Currie, with agreement of his seconder and the Committee adjusted the wording of his Amendment as detailed below which he stated remained unaffected by this change.

Adjusted Amendment

Weight is given to the fact that the application site does not lie within, or immediately adjacent to any landscape designation. Impact on the nearest site would be minimal. The landscape character type (LCT) within which the proposal is situated (Upland Forest Moor Mosaic) is of 'medium' sensitivity, therefore the development can be absorbed without overall detriment to the LCT, despite the existing level of wind farm development on the peninsula. While noting the concerns of the impact on the Coastal Rocky Mosaic LCT it is concluded that this would not be significantly adverse. Due to the relatively small number of turbines (3), the visual impacts of the scheme will be within acceptable limits.

In cumulative impact terms, since it is only 3 turbines the application would not unacceptably affect landscape character or visual scenic interests. The scheme would be the only wind farm in Barr Glen with only partial visibility of neighbouring Beinn an Tuirc. The principle cumulative impact raised by Planners is regarding visual effects of multiple developments, therefore in this application the cumulative impact is minor. As the scheme would not impinge unacceptably on neighbouring landscape character types or key views there is not agreement with the

conclusions of the Council and SNH that the "Argyll and Bute Landscape Wind Energy Capacity Study" justifies a refusal in this case. Whilst there would be impacts on road users, these would be transitory and localised and would not be unacceptable. With separation of at least 1.1 km from the nearest property, no house would experience impacts which would justify withholding consent in terms of visual impacts.

It is not uncommon for wind farm access arrangements to be dealt with by means of condition and this would be appropriate in this case. Therefore a suspensive condition should be attached requiring the submission of a traffic management plan.

Local economic benefit of the scheme is important and a material consideration.

The application should therefore be approved as he considered it to be consistent with Local Plan Policy REN 1 for the reasons detailed above.

Moved by Councillor Robin Currie, seconded by Councillor Rory Colville

A vote was taken by a show of hands and the Amendment was carried by 6 votes to 4 and the Committee resolved accordingly.

DECISION

Agreed to grant planning permission and to delegate authority to the Head of Planning and Regulatory Services in consultation with Councillor McNaughton and Councillor Currie to determine appropriate conditions and reasons and any necessary legal agreements to attach to this consent.

(Reference: Report by Head of Planning and Regulatory Services dated 1 April 2014, supplementary planning report number 1 dated 22 April 2014 and supplementary planning report number 2 dated 3 June 2014, submitted)